

# **QUICK WINS FOR PACC2030**

# A Publication by the Caribbean Initiative

Ambassador Riyad Insanally and Wazim Mowla



# Atlantic Council

### ADRIENNE ARSHT LATIN AMERICA CENTER

The Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center broadens understanding of regional transformations through high-impact work that shapes the conversation among policymakers, the business community, and civil society. The Center focuses on Latin America's strategic role in a global context with a priority on pressing political, economic, and social issues that will define the trajectory of the region now and in the years ahead. The Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center's Caribbean Initiative seeks to accelerate the region's strategic importance as a key partner for the United States. With work commencing in 2021, this initiative brings increased recognition to the importance of the Caribbean amid vast hemispheric and global challenges. Jason Marczak serves as Center Senior Director.

This report is written and published in accordance with the Atlantic Council Policy on Intellectual Independence. The authors are solely responsible for its analysis and recommendations. The Atlantic Council and its donors do not determine, nor do they necessarily endorse or advocate for, any of this report's conclusions.

Atlantic Council 1030 15th Street NW, 12th Floor Washington, DC 20005

For more information, please visit www.AtlanticCouncil.org.

#### ISBN-13: 978-1-61977-248-9

September 2022



ADRIENNE ARSHT LATIN AMERICA CENTER

# **QUICK WINS FOR PACC2030**

# A Publication by the Caribbean Initiative

Ambassador Riyad Insanally and Wazim Mowla

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	5
A GROWING CLIMATE AND ENERGY CRISIS IN THE CARIBBEAN	6
BENEFITS OF AND CHALLENGES TO IMPLEMENTING PACC2030	8
QUICK WINS FOR PACC2030	9
Quick Win #1: Expand the Scope of the US Development Finance Corporation (DFC)	9
Quick Win #2: Build a US Private-Sector Coalition	10
Quick Win #3: Create a US-Caribbean Educational Consortium	11
CONCLUSION	11
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	12
ABOUT THE AUTHORS	12

### INTRODUCTION

Of the five initiatives announced at the Ninth Summit of the Americas in June 2022, importantly, one is specific to the often-overlooked Caribbean: the US-Caribbean Partnership to Address the Climate Crisis 2030 (PACC2030). PACC2030 represents a renewed US commitment to Caribbean Community (CARICOM) members and is expected to be the central driver of US-Caribbean engagement over the next few years. PACC2030's focus on climate and energy resilience shows that President Joe Biden and his administration have listened to Caribbean governments and stakeholders who have called for new partnership frameworks for economic recovery, resilience, climate adaptation, energy security, and the transition to renewables.<sup>1</sup>

PACC2030 has two primary objectives: (1) strengthen regional energy security by providing greater access to financing, clean energy sources, and infrastructure; and (2) promote climate adaptation and resilience by enhancing the Caribbean's access to, and capacity to absorb, new resources and technologies<sup>2</sup>

These objectives line up with the Caribbean's needs and challenges presented by climate change and the imperative of building sustainable, resilient, and secure economies. PACC2030 has, therefore, been welcomed in the region. If successfully implemented, PACC2030 can shape and strengthen US-Caribbean relations for the long term, facilitate US-Caribbean public-private partnerships, and give impetus to regional efforts to advance climate and energy agendas.

PACC2030 could not be timelier. The region is increasingly vulnerable to the effects of climate change and extreme weather events, and its small and generally tourism-dependent economies have been disproportionately affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and external shocks, like Russia's invasion of Ukraine. The impacts of the latter are particularly relevant as most of CARICOM depends on fossil fuel imports, with some countries' average electricity price more than double that of the United States.<sup>3</sup> The current volatility of the global energy market and the resulting spikes in fossil fuel prices have only exacerbated the situation.

If successfully implemented, PACC2030 can shape and strengthen US-Caribbean relations for the long-term.

Several tweaks to the PACC2030 framework are needed to help it coincide with the interests and the reality of CARICOM countries' circumstances. And it needs to deliver in the short term, generating confidence that the United States is committed to a sustainable partnership.

PACC2030's success is important for CARICOM countries and the United States. Apart from the socioeconomic and security threats posed by climate change, natural disasters, and energy insecurity, there are geopolitical considerations. Simply, if the United States cannot support the security and prosperity of its so-called Third Border, CARICOM members in need of short-term solutions to energy challenges and climate financing are likely to look to countries like China, Russia, and Venezuela for assistance.

The United States and CARICOM quickly moved to set up joint committees and identify co-chairs to address energy security, food security, and financial inclusion under the PACC2030 framework.<sup>4</sup> Now, it is urgent that implementation happens sooner rather than later.

Two things need to occur in parallel. First, several tweaks to the PACC2030 framework are needed to help it coincide with the interests and the reality of CARICOM countries' circumstances. Second, it needs to deliver in the short term, generating confidence that the United States is committed to a sustainable partnership. US policymakers should consider what some of these quick wins might be, and which US institutions can play a leading role in achieving them. At the same time, Caribbean governments should work with their regional institutions to present a coherent strategy in negotiations with the United States, to take advantage of the opportunities presented. If this happens, PACC2030 can have an immediate impact in the Caribbean, while setting up the long-term foundation of the region's prosperity.



"US Vice President Kamala Harris, meeting with Caribbean leaders at the Ninth Summit of the Americas, kickstarted a new direction for US-Caribbean relations," Reuters, June 9, 2022

## A GROWING CLIMATE AND ENERGY CRISIS IN THE CARIBBEAN

CARICOM countries that have tourism dependent economies are highly vulnerable to the effects of climate change and natural disasters. According to the Inter-American Development Bank's Tourism Dependency Index, ten of the top twenty tourismdependent economies worldwide are CARICOM members.<sup>5</sup> For these economies, climate change and natural disasters damage tourism infrastructure, cause tourist arrivals to drop and increase insurance premiums for local hoteliers. During the 2017 Atlantic hurricane season, which saw two Category 5 hurricanes make landfall in the Eastern Caribbean, there were estimated losses of more than eight hundred thousand expected visitors and almost \$741 million.<sup>6</sup> In Dominica, ninety percent of all buildings were destroyed, and the entire population of Barbuda was evacuated to the sister island of Antigua.<sup>7</sup>

When this type of widespread devastation occurs, CARICOM countries can lose years of economic growth in the span of a few days. Governments are often forced to borrow money at high interest rates to repair damaged infrastructure, even as resources are redirected from other sectors to provide emergency relief to affected citizens. The result is that leaders are forced to put a bandage on a gaping wound after each natural disaster. Over time, this becomes an unsustainable vicious circle, as governments are left without resources to prepare for future disasters.

The local financial sector is also adversely affected. The tourism industry accounts for 13 percent of all jobs in the Caribbean.<sup>8</sup> When natural disasters strike, job loss often follows, decreasing the purchasing power of individual citizens and the overall financial health of households. The result is that citizens are unable to purchase goods abroad and domestically, leading to slower economic recovery. At the same time, almost 50 percent of loan recipients from Caribbean banks are individuals.<sup>9</sup> Therefore, as individual revenues decrease due to job loss, debtors are unable to repay loans. Banks then have fewer funds available to lend to other businesses, again slowing economic recovery.

Here, PACC2030's success will be crucial to providing relief to domestic economies in CARICOM. By reducing the burden CARICOM economies face externally from natural disasters and the volatility of global energy prices, governments should be able to focus their attention inward. This should lead to more resources and political capital to expand social programs and growth in nontraditional economic sectors. Further, investment in new technologies and tools to support climate and energy resilience can be a job creator for CARICOM citizens, ultimately diversifying the job market so that it is not as dependent on travel and tourism as it is today.



"Extreme weather events such as Hurricane Irma leave small island nations in ruin, underscoring the need for PACC 2030 to deliver on its promise to support climate resilience," Reuters, October 7, 2017.

Beyond the challenges of climate change, CARICOM countries pay some of the highest energy prices in the world. This is mainly because most are dependent on fossil fuel imports. According to the Caribbean Development Bank, borrowing members imported more than 85 percent of commercial energy supplies as of 2019.<sup>10</sup> The result is costly for Caribbean citizens, who on average pay more than double the price for electricity that US customers pay. In the United States, customers pay an average of \$0.10 per kilowatt hour (KW/h) while CARICOM countries (excluding Trinidad and Tobago) range from \$0.18–0.33 per KW/h.<sup>11</sup>

High electricity prices curtail the potential economic and social development of CARICOM countries. Similar to the aftermath of natural disasters, high electricity costs decrease the purchasing power of the average CARICOM citizen, with a higher percentage likely to be spent on energy consumption than on domestic products and services that contribute to economic growth.

Especially for those who are owners of micro, small, and mediumsized enterprises, these high prices limit how many people can be hired by these firms or how much can be invested in new technologies to support growth. Close to 40 percent of Caribbean firms cite high electricity costs as a restraint to business operations.<sup>12</sup> High electricity prices and small market size mean that the competitiveness of these firms is eroded on regional and global levels, making it difficult to attract foreign investment or enter foreign markets.

For CARICOM countries, this is particularly troubling because the tourism and transportation sectors are high energy consumers. For the tourism industry, high electricity costs lead to higher hotel rates, which affect the competitiveness of the sector and can deter tourists from visiting. This, in turn, has indirect effects on the local economy, because tourists bring hard currency to the region and support the incomes of taxi drivers, shop owners, and others.

### **BENEFITS OF AND CHALLENGES TO IMPLEMENTING PACC2030**

With the many challenges facing CARICOM countries simultaneously, PACC2030 presents a new opportunity to support economic growth and resilience in the region. An added benefit is that PACC2030's potential success can lead to more sustainable engagement between the United States and CARICOM. Importantly, the framework recognizes the value of working with and through Caribbean institutions. There is an emphasis in its mandate to work with the Caribbean Development Bank, including pursuing membership, as well as cooperating with other institutions, such as the Caribbean Centre for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency and the Caribbean Disaster Emergency Management Agency. Notably, PACC2030 acknowledges that the region has the institutions and solutions to address its own challenges. What is needed are the resources, tools, and technologies to enhance the capacity of these institutions to deliver solutions.

PACC2030 does, however, face some possible hurdles to successful implementation. Too often, US policy toward CARICOM countries has lacked continuity and consistency. While PACC2030 has been generally welcomed by the region's leaders, if there are not rapid results, there is likely to be skepticism as to whether PACC2030 will break this trend. Over the past few US presidential administrations, different policy frameworks emerged with short shelf lives. The Caribbean Energy Security Initiative was a President Barack Obama-era framework that was effective for 2–3 years, and the US-Caribbean 2020 Multi-Year Strategy and the Growth in the Americas Initiative did not outlive President Donald Trump's administration. The demise of these efforts often came with a change in the US presidency.

While CARICOM countries and the barriers they face to economic development are widely acknowledged, changes in US policy and actors have not allowed previous policies to gain the momentum needed to produce long-term results. It will, therefore, be important for current US policymakers to ensure this is not the case with PACC2030. Socializing the framework with politicians and policymakers on both sides of the aisle can help bring bipartisan consensus and agreement that PACC2030, suitably refined, is the best way forward for US-CARICOM policy engagement.

While PACC2030 aims to address energy insecurity in the Caribbean, the framework however focuses solely on renewable energies, and makes no mention of hydrocarbon production. The current reality is that while CARICOM members have set ambitious energy-transition targets, some are still focused on maximizing the potential of their oil and gas reserves. Trinidad and Tobago, as the region's oldest oil and gas producer, is committed to bringing more offshore liquefied natural gas (LNG) production online in 2022, after exports doubled in the first half of the year.<sup>13</sup> Guyana's offshore reserves are eleven billion barrels oil equivalent and counting, with production expected to reach one million barrels per day by 2027.<sup>14</sup>

# PACC2030's potential success can lead to more sustainable engagement between the United States and CARICOM.

And Suriname is expected to auction 60 percent of its offshore oil blocks over the next year.<sup>15</sup> At the same time, Jamaica and Barbados have signed or extended oil-exploration or production agreements, while simultaneously pursuing their renewable energy targets.

Curbing carbon emissions has been a focus of the US government's foreign policy over the past few years, which explains the omission of developing and using hydrocarbon fuels from PACC2030's mandate. This has also been a focus of the domestic agenda, so it would be difficult for the Biden administration to galvanize support at home to allocate resources to strengthening CARICOM energy security via available oil and gas reserves. Still, PACC2030 will need to navigate the dual-energy reality of CARICOM countries. As the framework grows and expands, inclusion of hydrocarbon revenues can help with energy security in the short term, by offsetting the volatility of global energy prices while providing seed capital needed to invest in climate-resilient infrastructure. Therefore, PACC2030 should see available CARICOM energy resources as complementary, rather than antagonistic, to its objectives.

Finally, PACC2030's framework addresses the climate and energy crisis regionally, but not at national and subregional levels. CARICOM countries range across the Caribbean Sea from Central America to South America. The geographical breadth of the region means that there is a diversity of both challenges and resources. For example, natural disasters, such as hurricanes, are common in the eastern but not southern Caribbean. The region's energy potential also varies. Beyond wind and solar energy potential, only some countries have the capacity to use geothermal, large-scale hydropower, or biomass energy.

One particular challenge is that US policymakers tend to view CARICOM as a homogenous group, rather than a collection of independent countries with their own ambitions, interests, and differences. Due to the region's diversity, it will be important that US policymakers do not use PACC2030 to generalize policy toward CARICOM. In this respect, in addition to the institutions already identified in PACC2030's framework, US policymakers should include the CARICOM Secretariat and the Caribbean Community Centre for Climate Change (CCCCC) in consultations to ensure that actions take into account collective goals and the special circumstances of each respective country. Working with the requisite knowledge and expertise of regional institutions, even as they work with CARICOM governments, will ensure that the policies and actions emanating from the PACC2030 balance regional and national needs.

## **QUICK WINS FOR PACC2030**

PACC2030 has the potential to have tremendous and far-reaching impact, but getting the timing and sequencing right is critical. And as the honeymoon phase of PACC2030's announcement fades, CARICOM leaders and citizens will look to the United States for implementation and follow-up, even as the region's climate and energy challenges show no signs of diminishing. Below are three quick wins the United States and CARICOM should pursue.

### Quick Win #1: Expand the Scope of the US Development Finance Corporation (DFC)

Improving access to development financing is a key pillar of PACC2030. The framework highlights that the DFC is the optimal tool, alongside multilateral banks, to provide access to concessional or blended financing for clean-energy projects. Currently, most CARICOM countries are unable to access DFC financing due to their categorization as high- or middle-income countries; the DFC's mandate is to favor low-income countries. The challenge is that the criteria on which the DFC relies do not account for the unique vulnerabilities facing CARICOM countries, whose small markets, under-resourced institutions, climate and environmental vulnerability, and lack of access to concessional financing leave them susceptible to external economic shocks, uncompetitive in the global economy, and with minimal fiscal flexibility.

Expanding the scope of the DFC requires congressional action. Therefore, a bipartisan group of congressional members should be convened to amend the Better Utilization of Investment Leading to Development (BUILD) Act to create an exception for CARICOM countries to receive DFC financing for climate and energy resilience. Here, there is precedent. In 2019, Congress codified the European Energy Security and Diversification Act of 2019 to allow for highand middle-income European countries to receive DFC financing to counter Russian influence in this area.<sup>16</sup>



The US Congress is a key component of implementing PACC2030. In the past, CARICOM members have benefited from bipartisan support, and the same level will be required again. US Capitol Building, Washington DC.

In addition, in the context of the geopolitical dynamics of the Caribbean and US suspicion of the presence and influence of actors such as China and Venezuela, it should be reasonably straightforward to forge consensus in Congress around the need to offer CARICOM governments alternative investments and support from the US government and private sector by way of the DFC.

Amending the BUILD Act would require bipartisan support, which is something CARICOM countries have enjoyed in the past as part of key US agreements, such as the Caribbean Basin Security Initiative. Members of the Caribbean Congressional Caucus can provide a basis of support for CARICOM governments. And because competing with Chinese influence in the Americas is growing in bipartisan consensus, framing the expansion of the DFC's scope should draw support from even those members of Congress who have traditionally not had an interest in CARICOM.

# Quick Win #2: Build a US Private-Sector Coalition

US and Caribbean private sector involvement will also be critical to PACC2030's success. One of the key pillars of PACC2030 is facilitating project development and investment, and the framework aims to create an investment facilitation team and technical assistance program to move projects from exploration to financing to implementation. Due to the variability of energy potential and access to financing in the Caribbean, the State Department's Bureau of Energy Resources, the US Agency for International Development (USAID), and the US Trade and Development Agency should build an accompanying US private sector coalition to draw on existing investment experience working with the region, and to support existing regional projects already in development.

Membership of the private sector coalition should go beyond energy companies and be expanded to other sectors such as the travel and tourism industries. Hotels, restaurants, and transportation require significant energy resources, and these businesses also suffer from high electricity costs. If energy prices continue to rise and electricity prices become unmanageable, travel and tourismrelated businesses will become increasingly uncompetitive, and could even close. Therefore, multinational hotel chains, cruise lines, and airlines looking to charter direct flights in the region have a vested interest in an energy-secure and stable Caribbean. Further, many of these companies have worked for decades with CARICOM governments and people, so they would have the innate political and economic understanding that can guide new private sector actors interested in the region. Currently, there is a reliance on government-to-government interactions, with US agencies at the forefront. Adding a private sector element would broaden the scope of the US-CARICOM relations and introduce more continuity and flexibility.

The US private sector coalition can support current regional projects. For the United States, this would mean expanding the current scope of PACC2030's mandate to focus on the hydrocarbon sector, in addition to the energy transition. Regional discussions are already taking place to merge Caribbean and Latin American oil and gas potential in Guyana, Suriname, and Brazil. Such an energy corridor would be expected to strengthen energy security, lower electricity costs, and increase export earnings for each country. If the vision comes to fruition, it will require significant capital for large-scale energy infrastructure, technical training, and financing for other areas, such as transportation and building materials. These are all areas in which the US government and the private sector can have an immediate impact.

US private sector investment in CARICOM countries can strengthen relations with the region. Currently, there is a reliance on government-to-government interactions, with US agencies at the forefront. Adding a private sector element would broaden the scope of the US-CARICOM relationship and introduce more continuity and flexibility. US investment, while affected by changes in US presidential administrations, is more resilient to these changes, and companies can work to scale up industries in the Caribbean much faster than the US government.

It would also come at a timely moment for the region. CARICOM leaders are increasingly looking to business leaders in their respective countries to support economic and social development, and to address regional challenges, such as food, health, and energy security. There is much appetite for private sector involvement, and a coordinated US approach can take advantage of this to support US companies and simultaneously stimulate economic development in the region.

# Quick Win #3: Create a US-Caribbean Educational Consortium

An important aspect of PACC2030 is the framework's intent to work hand-in-hand with CARICOM organizations. Given the local capacity challenges in the region, the goal is to provide access to data, training, and expertise to CARICOM institutions. This is prevalent across all four pillars, but there is a challenge in how to coordinate the different avenues of engagement presented by PACC2030, such as the User-Informed Climate Data Systems and the Caribbean Regional Climate Outlook Forum. There is also a challenge regarding how to leverage the breadth of expertise across US institutions, while ensuring that the benefits from technical training go beyond regional institutions.

Therefore, the State Department should consider working with the CARICOM Secretariat in building a US-Caribbean Education Consortium to house the data and training aspects of PACC2030. This mechanism could connect US educational institutions with counterparts in the Caribbean. The benefit is that, at a younger age, the region's population can learn and build experience in areas such as mapping marine networks, building and using climate data systems, and creating new technologies that are applicable to the unique climate challenges and environmental geographies of the region. At the same time, it can house the feasibility studies mentioned in PACC2030, as US and CARICOM experts explore the region's renewable energy potential. And as new data and skills are learned, the Consortium can start to build long-term institutional knowledge critical to advancing climate and energy goals.

For the United States, the benefit extends beyond the scope of PACC2030's timeline. Educational ties and exporting expertise are key components of US public diplomacy. The people-to-people interactions can complement the technical aspects of PACC2030. This would help disseminate to CARICOM citizens the benefits of PACC2030 and, more broadly, US partnership. This would also help combat the negative press the United States received in the Caribbean in the lead-up to the Summit of the Americas and as a result of Chinese vaccine-diplomacy messaging.

### CONCLUSION

CARICOM countries' energy and climate challenges need to be urgently addressed. The region is reeling from consistent climaterelated natural disasters, and many of its citizens are at the mercy of increasing energy prices. This is the moment for CARICOM countries to rely on, and receive support from, its most trusted ally. The United States has all the tools and expertise—and now, the will—to support climate and energy resilience in CARICOM countries. But timely implementation is needed over the next few months to show the region that US support and promises are not empty gestures, and instead come with action.

How the United States follows up after PACC2030's announcement at the Summit of the Americas will test the strength of US commitment to its CARICOM partners. Finding quick access to financing for CARICOM countries to invest in climate and energy resilience, involving and increasing the role of the US private sector in PACC2030's implementation, and ensuring that the expertise and technologies brought to the region by the framework are taught, and not just given, are all actions that the United States can take in the short term. The region is reeling from consistent climate related natural disasters, and many of its citizens are at the mercy of increasing energy prices. This is the moment for CARICOM countries to rely on, and receive support from, its most trusted ally.

### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

**Riyad Insanally** is a Senior Fellow at the Caribbean Initiative at the Atlantic Council's Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center. He was Guyana's ambassador to the United States and permanent representative to the Organization of American States (OAS) from September 2016 to June 2021. Ambassador Insanally was a career diplomat for more than thirty-one years and received Guyana's thirdhighest award, the Cacique's Crown of Honour, in 2019 for his "long and distinguished service in the field of diplomacy and international relations." Ambassador Insanally studied modern languages and Latin American studies, and obtained MA and MPhil degrees from the University of Cambridge and a PhD from Harvard University. He is fluent in English and Spanish and proficient in French. **Wazim Mowla** is the Assistant Director of the Caribbean Initiative at the Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center. Mowla is also a nonresident scholar at the Florida International University (FIU) Jack D. Gordon Institute for Public Policy and an affiliate of the Resilient and Sustainable Islands Initiative at the Overseas Development Institute. Mowla holds bachelor's degrees in international relations and history and a master's in history from FIU. He also holds a master's from American University's School of International Service in comparative/regional studies. Mowla frequently provides Englishlanguage commentary and analysis to US and Caribbean media outlets.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Atlantic Council board member and the founder of the Caribbean Initiative, Melanie Chen, for her vision and support of the initiative. We would also like to thank Senior Director of the Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center Jason Marczak for his comments and guidance during the drafting of this publication. Finally, thank you to Willow Fortunoff for her help in coordinating the publication of the spotlight.

## **ENDNOTES**

- 1 PACC2030's four pillars are: improving access to development financing; facilitating clean-energy project development and investment; enhancing local capacity building; and deepening US collaboration with key Caribbean institutions. Riyad Insanally, "What Can a U.S.-Caribbean Energy Alliance Achieve?" Energy Advisor, The Inter-American Dialogue, June 23, 2022, https://www.thedialogue.org/analysis/what-can-a-u-s-caribbean-energy-alliance-achieve/?
- 2 "Vice President Harris Launches the U.S.-Caribbean Partnership to Address the Climate Crisis 2030 (PACC2030), White House, June 9, 2022, https://www.whitehouse.gov/
- briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/06/09/fact-sheet-vice-president-harris-launches-the-u-s-caribbean-partnership-to-address-the-climate-crisis-2030-pacc-2030. Lilia Burunciuc, "Clean Energy in the Caribbean: a Triple Win," World Bank, June 21, 2022, https://blogs.worldbank.org/latinamerica/clean-
- a bardinctic, Gean Energy in the Cambeant a mple wint, which barry 5/1/1025, https://blogs.wondbarry.org/autometera/ energy-caribbean-triple-win#:\*:text=Electricity%20prices%20in%20the%20Caribbean,over%20US%24%200.40%20per%20kWh.
  "Joint Readout of President Joe Biden & Vice President Kamala Harris' Meeting with the Leaders of the Caribbean Community (CAR)
- 4 "Joint Readout of President Joe Biden & Vice President Kamala Harris' Meeting with the Leaders of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) and the Dominican Republic," White House, June 10, 2022, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/06/10/joint-readout-ofpresident-joe-biden-vice-president-kamala-harris-meeting-with-leaders-of-the-caribbean-community-caricom-and-the-dominican-republic.
- 5 Henry Mooney, et al., "Caribbean Quarterly Bulletin: Volume 10: Issue 2, August 2021," Inter-American Development Bank, August 2021, https://publications.iadb.org/en/caribbean-quarterly-bulletin-volume-10-issue-2-august-2021.
- 6 Bertram Niles, "Caribbean Lost \$741 in Tourism Revenue from 2017 Storms: Report," CGTN, May 18, 2018. https:// news.cgtn.com/news/3d3d514d796b544d77457a6333566d54/share\_p.html.
- 7 "In the Eye of the Caribbean Storm: One Year on from Irma and Maria," United Nations, September 5, 2018, https://news.un.org/en/story/2018/09/1018372.
- 8 "Travel & Tourism in the Caribbean: Prospects for Growth," World Travel & Tourism Council, June 2022, https://
- wttc.org/Portals/0/Documents/Reports/2022/Travel-and-tourism-in-the-caribbean.pdf.
- 9 Mooney, et al., "Caribbean Economics Quarterly."
- 10 Gene Leon, "Keynote—Energy Transition in the Caribbean—Challenges and Opportunities," Caribbean Development Bank, June 27, 2022, https:// www.caribbank.org/newsroom/news-and-events/speeches/keynote-energy-transition-caribbean-challenges-and-opportunities.
- 11 "The Price of Electricity per KWH in 230 Countries," Cable.co.uk, last visited August 8, 2022, https://www.cable.co.uk/energy/worldwide-pricing.
- 12 Arnold McIntyre, "IMF Working Paper: Caribbean Energy: Macro-Related Challenges," International Monetary Fund, March 2016, https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ff/wp/2016/wp1653.pdf.
- 13 Ank Kuipers, "Trinidad Boosts LNG Exports to Europe, Rushes More Gas Outputs," Reuters, June 28, 2022. https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/trinidad-boosts-Ing-exports-europe-rushes-more-gas-output-2022-06-28.
- 14 Arathy S Nair, "Hess Vorp Sees 1 Million BDP Oil Output from Guyana by 2027," Reuters, October 27, 2021, https://www.reuters. com/article/hess-guyana/hess-corp-sees-1-million-bpd-oil-output-from-guyana-by-2027-idUSL4N2RN4KU.
- 15 Ank Kuipers, "Staatsolie to Offer 60% of Suriname's Offshore Oil Blocks in Coming Year–VP," Reuters, June 29, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/staatsolie-offer-60-surinames-offshore-oil-blocks-coming-year-vp-2022-06-29.
- 16 European Energy Security and Diversification, 22 U.S.C. Chapter 102, https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title22/chapter102/subchapter3&edition=prelim.



### **Board of Directors**

### CHAIRMAN

\*John F.W. Rogers

#### EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN EMERITUS

\*James L. Jones

#### **PRESIDENT AND CEO**

\*Frederick Kempe

#### EXECUTIVE VICE CHAIRS

\*Adrienne Arsht \*Stephen J. Hadley

#### **VICE CHAIRS**

\*Robert J. Abernethy \*C. Boyden Gray \*Alexander V. Mirtchev

#### TREASURER

\*George Lund

### DIRECTORS

Stéphane Abrial **Todd Achilles** Timothy D. Adams \*Michael Andersson David D. Aufhauser Barbara Barrett Colleen Bell Stephen Biegun Linden P. Blue Adam Boehler Iohn Bonsell Philip M. Breedlove Myron Brilliant \*Esther Brimmer Richard R. Burt \*Teresa Carlson \*James E. Cartwright John E. Chapoton Ahmed Charai Melanie Chen Michael Chertoff \*George Chopivsky Wesley K. Clark \*Helima Croft \*Ankit N. Desai Dario Deste \*Paula J. Dobriansky Joseph F. Dunford, Jr. Richard Edelman Thomas J. Egan, Jr. Stuart E. Eizenstat Mark T. Esper \*Michael Fisch \*Alan H. Fleischmann Jendayi E. Frazer Meg Gentle Thomas H. Glocer Iohn B. Goodman \*Sherri W. Goodman Jarosław Grzesiak Murathan Günal Frank Haun Michael V. Havden Tim Holt \*Karl V. Hopkins Kay Bailey Hutchison Ian Ihnatowycz Mark Isakowitz Wolfgang F. Ischinger Deborah Lee James \*Joia M. Johnson \*Maria Pica Karp Andre Kelleners Brian L. Kelly Henry A. Kissinger John E. Klein \*C. Jeffrey Knittel Franklin D. Kramer Laura Lane Yann Le Pallec Jan M. Lodal Douglas Lute Jane Holl Lute William J. Lynn Mark Machin Mian M. Mansha Marco Margheri Michael Margolis Chris Marlin William Marron Christian Marrone Gerardo Mato Timothy McBride Erin McGrain John M. McHugh Eric D.K. Melby \*Judith A. Miller Dariusz Mioduski Michael J. Morell \*Richard Morningstar Georgette Mosbacher Majida Mourad Dambisa F. Movo Virginia A. Mulberger Mary Claire Murphy Edward J. Newberry Franco Nuschese Joseph S. Nye Ahmet M. Ören Sally A. Painter Ana I. Palacio

\*Kostas Pantazopoulos Alan Pellegrini David H. Petraeus \*Lisa Pollina Daniel B. Poneman \*Dina H. Powell **McCormick** Michael Punke Ashraf Qazi Thomas J. Ridge Gary Rieschel Lawrence Di Rita Michael J. Rogers Charles O. Rossotti Harry Sachinis C. Michael Scaparrotti Ivan A. Schlager Rajiv Shah Gregg Sherrill Ali Jehangir Siddiqui Kris Singh Walter Slocombe Christopher Smith Clifford M. Sobel James G. Stavridis Michael S. Steele Richard J.A. Steele Mary Streett Gil Tenzer \*Frances M. Townsend Clyde C. Tuggle Melanne Verveer Charles F. Wald Michael F. Walsh Ronald Weiser Maciej Witucki Neal S. Wolin \*Jenny Wood Guang Yang Mary C. Yates Dov S. Zakheim

#### HONORARY DIRECTORS

James A. Baker, III Ashton B. Carter Robert M. Gates James N. Mattis Michael G. Mullen Leon E. Panetta William J. Perry Condoleezza Rice Horst Teltschik William H. Webster



The Atlantic Council is a nonpartisan organization that promotes constructive US leadership and engagement in international affairs based on the central role of the Atlantic community in meeting today's global challenges.

© 2021 The Atlantic Council of the United States. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Atlantic Council, except in the case of brief quotations in news articles, critical articles, or reviews. Please direct inquiries to:

Atlantic Council

1030 15th Street, NW, 12th Floor, Washington, DC 20005

(202) 463-7226, www.AtlanticCouncil.org